Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-16-2017

Valiant Idaho, LLC v. JV L.L.C. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44584

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a foreclosure and lien priority case involving real property in Bonner County, Idaho, known as The Idaho Club golf course and residential development (herein "Idaho Club"). The developer of the real property was Pend Oreille Bonner Development, LLC (herein "POBD"). POBD defaulted on several secured loans, including in favor of the Appellant JV L.L.C. (herein "JV"), and in favor of RE LOANS, MORTGAGE FUND '08, and PENSCO TRUST, which were subsequently assigned to Respondent VALIANT IDAHO, LLC (herein "VALIANT"). POBD also defaulted on other secured loans and on payment of material and labor lien claims. POBD also became delinquent on the Bonner County real property taxes.

This action commenced in 2010 as a lien foreclosure case. As the case proceeded the claims for the various defaults and interests were asserted.

As indicated, POBD failed to pay the real property taxes on the "Idaho Club" properties to Bonner County, Idaho. Bonner County issued itself a Tax Deed in 2014. JV L.L.C. effectuated a redemption of a portion of the "Idaho Club" real property. VALIANT IDAHO, LLC subsequently purportedly effectuated a redemption of another portion of the "Idaho Club" real property.

The issues in this appeal involve the relative priorities between JV L.L.C. and VALIANT IDAHO, LLC in the foreclosed upon "Idaho Club" real properties. The issues also involve the award of costs against JV and the imposition of I.R.C.P. 11 sanctions against JV and attorney Gary Finney.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 1

II. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This action was commenced by a materialman and labor lien claimant, Genesis Golf Builders, in 2010 against numerous lenders, materialman and labor lien claimants, and other encumbrancers and claimants against the "Idaho Club" real property. The course of proceedings relevant to the issues in this appeal follow.

On July 21, 2014, VALIANT was substituted in the place of RE LOANS in the action (R. Vol V p 667). On November 19, 2014, VALIANT was substituted in the place of PENSCO and MF '08 in the action (R. Vol X p 1168 & 1171). Thereafter extensive motion practice was had and a trial was conducted. Numerous interlocutory orders were entered and numerous judgments and decrees of foreclosure were entered and vacated, as follows.

On January 20, 2015, VALIANT filed its Valiant Idaho, LLC's Motion For Summary Judgment Against JV, L.L.C., North Idaho Resorts, LLC, and VP, Incorporated and its supporting pleadings (R. Vol XIV p 1720). On February 2, 2015, JV filed its JV L.L.C.'s Memorandum In Opposition To Valiant Idaho, LLC's Motion For Summary Judgment and supporting pleadings. On February 27, 2015, JV filed its JV L.L.C.'s Supplemental Memorandum In Opposition To Valiant Idaho, LLC's Motion For Summary Judgment (R. Vol XXII p 2505).

On April 14, 2015, the District Court entered its Memorandum Decision & Order Granting Valiant Idaho, LLC's Motion For Summary Judgment Against JV, L.L.C., North Idaho Resorts, LLC, and VP, Incorporated (R. Vol XXII p 2560).

On April 28, 2015, JV filed its JV, L.L.C.'s Motion To APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 2 Alter, Amend And To Reconsider The Court's Memorandum Decision And Order Filed 4/14/2015 And Request For Oral Argument Time/Date For A Hearing; Not Yet To Be Set (R. Vol XXII p 2579).

On May 20, 2015, VALIANT filed its Valiant Idaho, LLC's Motion For Entry Of Final Judgment (R. Vol XXII p 2600). On June 23, 2015, the District Court entered its Memorandum Decision And Order Granting Motion For Entry Of Final Judgment (R. Vol XXIV p 2791). On July 7, 2017, JV filed its JV L.L.C.'s Objection To Entry Of Final Judgment - As Drafted By Valiant and Request For A Hearing (R. Vol XXIV p 2847).

On July 21, 2015, the District Court entered its Memorandum Decision And Order re: 1) JV LLC, North Idaho Resorts, LLC and VP, Incorporated's Motions To Reconsider 2) Valiant's Request For Entry of proposed Final Judgment And Decree of Foreclosure And Sale (R. Vol XXIV p 2856).

On July 22, 2015, VALIANT filed its Valiant Idaho, LLC's Motion For An Order Of Sale Of Real Property and supporting pleadings (R. Vol XXV p 2880).

On July 30, 2015, JV filed its JV L.L.C.'s Motion To Alter, Amend, And Reconsider The Court's Memorandum Decision And Order Re: JV L.L.C.'s Motions To Reconsider, And JV L.L.C.'s Motion For Partial Summary Judgment For Affirmative Relief Concerning JV L.L.C.'s Redemption Deed And As To Valiant's Redemption Deed; And Request For Hearing.

On August 5, 2015, the Court entered its first Decree of Foreclosure (R. Vol XXVI p 3705) and its first Judgment (R. Vol XXVI p 3082).

On August 18, 2015, JV filed its Motion To Reconsider, APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 3 Alter, and Amend the Judgment (Rule 11(B) and Rule 52); And Request For Hearing (R. Vol. XXVI p 3095).

On August 19, 2015, VALIANT filed its Valiant Idaho, LLC's Motion To Amend Decree Of Foreclosure and supporting pleadings (R. Vol XXVII p 3240) and its Valiant Idaho, LLC's Motion To Alter, Amend, And/Or Reconsider The Order Of Sale Of Real Property and supporting pleadings (R. Vol XXVII p 3249).

On August 24, 2015, JV, VP, and NORTH IDAHO RESORTS filed a Stipulation For Settlement And For Judgment As Between Defendant V.P., Inc. And North Idaho Resorts And The Defendant JV, L.L.C. (R. Vol XXVIII p 3340). A proposed judgment was submitted in conformity therewith.

On August 26, 2015, JV filed its JV's Supplemental Motion To Alter, Amend, Set Aside The Judgment, Based On Valiant's Motions To Change The Order Of Sale And Change The Decree Of Foreclosure and supporting pleadings (R. Vol XXIX p 3386). On August 31, 2015, JV filed its JV's Reply To Valiant's Memorandum In Opposition TO JV's Motion filed on 07/21/15 and Motions To Strike (R. Vol XXIX p 3499).

On September 4, 2015, the District Court entered its Memorandum Decision And Order Granting In Part Reconsideration of the July 21, 2015, Memorandum Decision & Order (R. Vol XXX p 3527). On September 17, 2015, the District Court entered its Notice re: proposed Judgment (as Between Defendant V.P., Inc. and North Idaho Resorts and the Defendant JV, L.L.C.) (R. Vol XXX p 3545), its Order Vacating Decree Of Foreclosure Entered on August 5, 2015 (R. Vol XXX p 3549), and its Order Vacating Judgment Entered on August 5, 2015 (R. Vol XXX p 3552).

APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 4

On September 25, 2015, VALIANT filed its Valiant Idaho, LLC's Third Motion For Summary Judgment and supporting pleadings (R. Vol XXX p 3623). On October 13, 2015, JV filed its JV, LLC's Objection and Memorandum In Opposition To Valiant Idaho, LLC's Third Motion For Summary Judgment and JV, LLC's Motion To Strike Valiant's Third Motion For Summary Judgment and Notice of Hearing for October 23, 2015 at 1:30 p.m. and supporting pleadings (R. Vol XXXII p 3748). On October 19, 2015, JV filed its JV, LLC's Response To Valiant's Motion To Strike Inadmissible Evidence (R. Vol XXXIII p 3884). On October 21, 2015, JV filed its JV L.L.C.'s Response To Valiant's Most Recent "Filings" and JV L.L.C.'s Objection Thereto (R. Vol XXXIII p 3972).

On October 30, 2015, the District Court entered its Memorandum Decision & Order re: Motions Heard on October 23, 2015 (R. Vol XXXIII p 4000).

On January 22, 2016, JV filed its JV L.L.C.'s Trial Memorandum (R. Vol XXXVI p 4316). Trial was held January 28 & 29, 2016 and March 16 & 17, 2016. On May 12, 2016, JV filed its JV L.L.C.'s Post Trial Memorandum and Argument (R. Vol XXXVII p 4489).

On May 27, 2016, the District Court entered its Memorandum Decision And Order (re: court trial held on January 28 and 29 and March 16 and 17, 2016) (R. Vol XXXVIII p 4589).

On June 22, 2016, the District Court entered its second Judgment (R. Vol XXXVIII p 4619) and its second Decree of Foreclosure (R. Vol XL p 4910). On July 14, 2016, the District Court entered its Order Vacating Judgment (R. Vol XLIII p 5266) and its Order Vacating Decree of Foreclosure entered on June 22, APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 5 2016 (R. Vol XLIII p 5268).

On July 20, 2016, the District Court entered its last Decree of Foreclosure (R. Vol XLIV p 5317) and its last Judgment (R. Vol XLV p 5413).

On August 2, 2016, JV filed its JV L.L.C.'s Motion To Alter, Amend and Reconsider re: 1. Memorandum Decision and Order 2. Judgment 3. Decree of Foreclosure 4. Order of Sale, and JV, LLC's Memorandum in Support And Request For Hearing (R. Vol XLV p 5521). On August 3, 2016, the District Court entered its Order Denying JV, L.L.C.'s Request For Oral Argument (R. Vol XLV p 5540).

On August 16, 2016, the District Court entered its Memorandum Decision And Order Denying JV, LLC's and VP, Incorporated's Motions to Alter, Amend and Reconsider. (R. Vol XLVII p 5793).

On August 22, 2016, the District Court entered its Memorandum Decision Order Awarding Costs And Attorneys' Fees To Valiant Idaho, LLC (R. Vol XLVIII p 5829) and its Judgment re: Costs and Attorneys' Fees (R. Vol XLVIII p 5844).

On August 24, 2016, JV filed its JV L.L.C.'s Response, Objection and Opposition To Plaintiff's Motion For Sanctions (R. Vol XLVIII p 5847) and on August 25, 2016, filed its JV L.L.C.'s Correction to its Response, Objection and Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions.

On August 29, 2016, the District Court entered its Memorandum Decision Order Denying Valiant Idaho, LLC's Motion For Sanctions (R. Vol XLVIII p 5925).

On September 20, 2016, JV filed its Notice of Appeal by JV APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 6 L.L.C. (R. Vol LI p 6137).

Several Writs of Execution were issued against JV and also against the Idaho Club real property. JV posted a cash bond, and on November 2, 2016, JV filed its JV, L.L.C.'s Motion and Application for Stay of Execution Upon Posting a Cash Deposit by JV L.L.C. (R. Vol LIX p 7311) and its JV L.L.C.'s Third Party Claim (Idaho Code § 11-203) (R. Vol LX p 7341). On November 3, 2016, VALIANT filed its Valiant Idaho, LLC's Motion for Sanctions Under I.C. § 12-123 and I.R.C.P. 11 (R. Vol LX p 7375).

On November 4, 2016, the District Court entered its Order Re: JV L.L.C.'s Third Party Claim And Motion For Stay of Execution (R. Vol LX p 7399) and on November 14, 2016, entered its Memorandum Decision And Order Granting Valiant Idaho, LLC's Motion For Sanctions (R. Vol LX p 7402).

On November 25, 2016, VALIANT filed its Valiant Idaho, LLC's Memorandum of Costs And Attorneys' Fees Against JV L.L.C. (R. Vol LX p 7438) and on December 2, 2016, JV filed its JV's Objection, And Motion To Disallow Valiant's Memorandum Of Attorney Costs and Fees (R. Vol LX p 7447).

On December 6, 2016, the District Court entered its Order Imposing Rule 11 Sanctions (R. Vol LX p 7458) and its Judgment re: Rule 11 Sanctions (R. Vol LX p 7462). JV subsequently posted a cash bond.

On January 13, 2017, JV filed its Amended Notice Of Appeal By JV L.L.C. I.A.R.17(m), Request For Additional Clerk's Transcripts, And Request For Additional Court Reporter's Transcript (R. Vol LXVI p 8235).

This appeal follows.

III. CONCISE STATEMENT OF FACTS

As it relates to the issues on appeal asserted by the Appellant JV, a concise statement of facts is as follows:

 JV held a Mortgage recorded October 24, 1995 as Instrument No. 474746, records of Bonner County, Idaho against certain "Idaho Club" real property described therein (JV Defendant's Exhibit B) securing an indebtedness.

2. R.E. LOANS, LLC (herein "RE" or "RE LOANS") held a Mortgage recorded March 15, 2007 as Instrument Nos. 724829 and 724834, against certain "Idaho Club" real property described therein (VALIANT Plaintiff's Exhibit 1).

3. PENSCO TRUST CO., custodian fbo BARNEY NG (herein "PENSCO") held a Mortgage recorded August 6, 2008 as Instrument Nos. 756394, 756395, and 796396, against certain "Idaho Club" real property described therein (VALIANT Plaintiff's Exhibit 16).

4. MORTGAGE FUND '08 LLC (herein "MF" or "MF '08") held an All-Inclusive Mortgage recorded August 6, 2008 as Instrument Nos. 796397, 796398, and 396399, against certain "Idaho Club" real property described therein (VALIANT Plaintiff's Exhibit 18).

 Certain subordinations were recorded regarding priority of the various mortgages.

6. On May 22, 2014, Bonner County issued and recorded a Tax Deed in favor of Bonner County as Instrument No. 859659 involving "Idaho Club" real property which was subject to the mortgages in favor of JV and/or, RE LOANS, PENSCO, and MF '08. Shortly after recording the Tax Deed, Bonner County instituted the process to sell the real property, to be sold at a public auction scheduled for July 9, 2014.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 8

7. On July 2, 2014, JV gave the Bonner County Tax Collector a written Notice of Redemption (JV Defendant's Exhibit K) in order to redeem pursuant to Idaho Code § 63-1007 a portion of the "Idaho Club" real property subject to the Tax Deed, which was subject to JV's Mortgage recorded October 24, 1995. Pursuant to the redemption, JV paid \$140,999.86 to Bonner County.

8. On July 3, 2014, Bonner County issued a Redemption Deed to JV, which was recorded July 7, 2014 as Instrument No. 861430 and was subsequently re-recorded by Bonner County on August 22, 2014 as Instrument No. 863295 to "Correct Legal Descriptions" (JV Defendants Exhibit L).

9. On July 7, 2014, VALIANT IDAHO, LLC recorded an Assignment Of Mortgage Note And Redemption Right (herein "RE Assignment"), as Instrument No. 861388, from RE LOANS to VALIANT regarding the RE LOANS Mortgage (VALIANT Plaintiff's Exhibit 72).

10. The RE Assignment was executed purportedly by an Attorney-in-Fact. There was no recorded power of attorney in the recording records of Bonner County, nor any ever introduced into evidence.

11. Following a purported redemption by VALIANT on July 7, 2014, Bonner County issued a Redemption Deed to VALIANT as assignee of RE, which was recorded July 8, 2014 as Instrument No. 861460 and was subsequently re-recorded by Bonner County on August 22, 2014 as Instrument No. 863298 to "Correct Legal Descriptions" (VALIANT Plaintiff's Exhibit 73).

12. On July 9, 2014, VALIANT IDAHO, LLC recorded an Assignment Of Mortgage, Note & Security Agreement (herein "PENSCO Assignment"), as Instrument No. 861559, from PENSCO to VALIANT APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 9 regarding the PENSCO Mortgage (VALIANT Plaintiff's Exhibit 80).

13. On July 16, 2014, VALIANT IDAHO, LLC recorded an Assignment Of Mortgage, Note & Security Agreement (herein "MF '08 Assignment"), as Instrument No. 861843, from MF '08 to VALIANT regarding the MF '08 Mortgage (VALIANT Plaintiff's Exhibit 85).

14. VALIANT made no purported tax redemptions as assignee of PENSCO or MF '08.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

The Appellant JV's statement of the issues on appeal is as follows:

(a) Did the District Court err by not subrogating JV to Bonner County's right, title, claim and interest regarding the delinquent property taxes and the Tax Deed, based upon the Tax Deed, the redemption by JV and Redemption Deed in favor of JV?

(b) Did the District Court err in awarding costs to VALIANT against JV?

(c) Did the District Court err in awarding sanctions to VALIANT against JV and Gary Finney?

ARGUMENT ON APPEAL

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

As set forth in <u>Hardy v. McGill</u>, 137 Idaho 280, 284-5 (2002), 148 Idaho 851, 857, 230 P.3d 743, 749 (2010), the applicable standard of review from the decision of the District Court is, as follows:

The issues in this case encompass two aspects of the proceedings in the district court. Several issues are raised with regard to the district court's grant of motions for summary judgment; others relate to the district court's findings and conclusions entered after a bench trial. With respect to appellate review of a district court's decision on a motion for summary judgment, this Court applies the same standard used by the district court when that court ruled upon the motion. Summary judgment must be granted when "the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(c); see also Friel v. Boise City Housing Authority, 126 Idaho 484, 485, 887 P.2d 29, 30 (1994). On review, this Court liberally construes the record in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion, drawing all reasonable inferences and conclusions in that party's favor. Construction Management Systems, Inc. v. Assurance Co. of America, 135 Idaho 680, 682, 23 P.3d 142, 144 (2001). However, if the evidence reveals no disputed issues of material fact, and only a question of law remains, this Court exercises free review. Hines v. Hines, 129 Idaho 847, 850, 934 P.2d 20, 23 (1997).

A different standard applies when we review the findings and conclusions reached by a trial court following a bench trial. We recently explained this standard in Conley v. Whittlesey, 133 Idaho 265, 269, 985 P.2d 1127, 1131 (1999):

Review of the lower court's decision is limited to ascertaining whether the evidence supports the findings of fact, and whether the findings of fact support the conclusions of law. A trial court's findings of fact in a court tried case will be liberally construed on appeal in favor of the judgment entered, in view of the trial court's role as trier of fact. It is the province of the district judge acting as trier of fact to weigh conflicting evidence and testimony and to judge the credibility of the witnesses. If the findings of fact are based on substantial evidence, even if the evidence is conflicting, they will not be overturned on appeal. However, we exercise free review over the lower court's conclusions of law to determine whether the court correctly stated the applicable law, and whether the legal conclusions are sustained by the facts found. [Citations omitted.]

The reviewing Court defers to the District Court's findings of facts unless clearly erroneous. The reviewing Court exercises free review on the application of the law and free review of the District Court's conclusions of law.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN REGARDS TO THE TAX DEED REDEMPTION BY JV L.L.C. BY NOT SUBROGATING JV TO THE COUNTY'S INTEREST BY VESTING TITLE IN JV OR ALTERNATIVELY BY GIVING JV THE BENEFIT OF THE TAX LIEN SUPER PRIORITY

While this foreclosure and priority adjudication action was pending, certain real property vested in POBD, which was subject to the various encumbrances, including the encumbrance held by JV and/or including the encumbrances held by VALIANT's predecessors RE LOANS, MF '08, and PENSCO TRUST, was the subject of proceedings by Bonner County pursuant to Idaho Code § 63-1006 for the issuance of a Tax Deed based upon delinguent taxes for numerous years.

A tax deed was issued and recorded by Bonner County in favor of Bonner County on May 22, 2014 as Instrument No. 859659. Shortly after recording the Tax Deed, Bonner County instituted the process to sell the property at public auction to be held on July 9, 2014.

On July 2, 2014, JV gave the Bonner County Tax Collector a written Notice of Redemption (JV Defendant's Exhibit K) in order to redeem a portion of the real property subject to the Tax Deed pursuant to Idaho Code § 63-1007. The property redeemed was subject to JV's Mortgage recorded October 24, 1995. Pursuant to the redemption JV paid \$140,999.86 to Bonner County. On July 2/3, 2014, Bonner County issued a Redemption Deed to JV, which was recorded July 7, 2014 as Instrument No. 861430 and was subsequently re-recorded by Bonner County on August 22, 2014 as Instrument No. 863295 (JV Defendants Exhibit L).

The District Court on April 14, 2015, entered its Memorandum Decision & Order Granting Valiant Idaho, LLC's Motion For Summary Judgment Against JV, L.L.C., North Idaho Resorts, LLC, and VP, Incorporated R. Vol XXII p 2560). The District Court set forth the holding in <u>Hardy v. McGill</u>, 137 Idaho 280, 286 (2002) and recited Idaho Code §§ 45-113, 45-114, and 45-105 and concluded that the redemption funds paid were to be simply added to the existing indebtedness with the redemptioner's existing priority. The facts of the case and the holding in <u>Hardy v. McGill</u> do not include any analysis of the provisions of Idaho Code §§ 45-113 or 45-114. The District Court did not analyze those provisions and did not take into account the distinguishing facts in this case compared to the facts in Hardy v. McGill.

A. The Effect Of The Tax Deed

Idaho Code § 63-1009, in effect at the time of the Tax Deed to JV in 2014, provided as follows:

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