#### **Uldaho Law**

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-8-2018

Valiant Idaho, LLC v. JV L.L.C. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44584

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

This Court reviews an appeal from an order of summary judgment *de novo*, and this Court's standard of review is the same as the standard used by the trial court in ruling on a motion for summary judgment. When ruling on a motion for summary judgment, disputed facts are construed in favor of the non-moving party, and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the record are drawn in favor of the non-moving party. (Citations omitted.)

Curlee v. Kootenai Cty. Fire & Rescue, 148 Idaho 391, 394, 224 P.3d 458, 461 (2008) (internal citations omitted). Although the facts should be construed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, the non-moving party's case must be anchored in something more than speculation, and a mere scintilla of evidence is not enough to create a genuine issue of fact. Pena v. Minidoka County, 133 Idaho 222, 224, 984 P.2d 710, 712 (1999). This Court has stated:

[T]he moving party is entitled to a judgment when the nonmoving party fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial.

Venable v. Internet Auto Rent & Sales, Inc., 156 Idaho 574, 581, 329 P.3d 356, 363 (2014) (quoting Thomson v. City of Lewiston, 137 Idaho 473, 476, 50 P.3d 488, 491 (2002)).

The non-moving party "must respond to the summary judgment motion with specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial." *Tuttle v. Sudenga Indus., Inc.*, 125 Idaho 145, 150, 868 P.2d 473, 478 (1994). The Court considers only that material contained in affidavits and depositions which is based on personal knowledge and which would be admissible at trial. *Harris v. State, Dep't of Health & Welfare*, 123 Idaho 295, 298, 847 P.2d 1156, 1159 (1992). Summary judgment is appropriate where a non-moving party fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to its case when it bears the burden of proof. *Id.* 

Samuel v. Hepworth, Nungester & Lezamiz, Inc., 134 Idaho 84, 87-88, 996 P.2d 303, 306-07 (2000). On issues that will not be tried before a jury, a court ruling on summary judgment motions may draw probable inferences arising from the undisputed facts. Losee v. Idaho Co., 148 Idaho 219, 222, 220 P.3d 575, 578 (2009). Only conflicting facts must be viewed in favor of the non-moving party. Id. Summary judgment is proper unless "reasonable persons could reach differing conclusions or draw conflicting inferences from the evidence presented." Id.

The standard of review for the second and third issues on appeal by JV differ from the standard of review for the first. This Court has long held that the grant or denial of discretionary costs is committed to the sound discretion of the trial court and will only be reviewed by an appellate court for an abuse of that discretion. *Fish v. Smith*, 131 Idaho 492, 493, 960 P.2d 175,

176 (1998). In reviewing whether a district court abused its discretion in awarding discretionary costs, the appellate court reviews:

(1) Whether the trial court correctly perceived the issue as discretionary; (2) whether the trial court acted within the boundaries of its discretion and consistent with applicable legal standards; and (3) whether the trial court reached its decision through an exercise of reason.

Hayden Lake Fire Prot. Dist. v. Alcorn, 141 Idaho 307, 313, 109 P.3d 161, 167 (2005), overruled on other grounds by Farber v. Idaho State Insurance Fund, 152 Idaho 495, 497, 272 P.3d 467, 469 (2012). This is the same standard of review for an award of sanctions. "Statutory attorney fee awards, as well as an award of sanctions under Rule 11, are subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review." *Urrutia v. Harrison*, 156 Idaho 677, 680, 330 P.3d 1035, 1038 (2014).

# B. JV Cannot Be Subrogated To The Rights Of Bonner County Because This Issue Was Raised For The First Time On Appeal.

As set forth hereinabove, JV asserts that this Court should determine that JV possesses fee title ownership to the property described in the JV Redemption Deed because it is subrogated to the same rights and interests that Bonner County possessed *via* its tax deed. This is an inappropriate basis for an appeal because JV never brought any claims to foreclose the JV Redemption Deed before the district court. JV's Answer to Complaint; and JV LLC's Answer to Valiant Idaho, LLC's Counterclaim, Cross-Claim and Third Party Complaint For Judicial Foreclosure; and JV LLC's Cross-Claim; and JV LLC's Third Party Complaint did not include any claim to foreclose the amounts JV paid to redeem. R.Vol. VII, 784-806. It is the longstanding rule of this Court that it

"will not consider issues that are raised for the first time on appeal." *Parsons v. Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co.*, 143 Idaho 743, 746, 152 P.3d 614, 617 (2007). As such, this Court should dismiss the JV Appeal of this issue on said grounds. To the extent this Court construes this issue as an appeal of the district court's determinations regarding the priority of the amounts Valiant paid to redeem, the JV Appeal should be dismissed for the reasons set forth hereinbelow.

# C. <u>The Valiant Redemption Deed Was Properly Incorporated Into The Underlying Debt Secured By The RE Loans Mortgage.</u>

The district court ruled that JV expressly subordinated the JV Mortgage to the Valiant Mortgages such that it is undisputed that the Valiant Mortgages were prior in right, title and interest to the JV Mortgage. R.Vol. XXII, p. 2572. Although JV filed two different motions to reconsider this determination, it was not appealed. The district court further held that "Valiant is entitled to include the amount paid to Bonner County to redeem the property with the amount due under the 2007 RE Loans Note" and that said "amount is entitled to the priority date of the 2007 RE Loans Mortgage (*i.e.*, March 15, 2007). As such, the amount paid by Valiant shall be deemed senior to any interest of JV . . ." *Id.*, p. 2575. Similarly, JV is entitled to include the amount it paid to Bonner County to redeem the Five Parcels with the amount due under the JV Mortgage and said amount has the same priority date as the JV Mortgage. As JV subordinated the JV Mortgage to the Valiant Mortgages, the amount JV paid to redeem is also necessarily subordinate to the Valiant Mortgages. R.Vol. XV, pp. 1751, 1804-31.

JV apparently contends that the JV Redemption Deed is senior to the Valiant Mortgages because the JV Redemption Deed either: (1) vests fee title to the Five Parcels in JV (i.e., its

"title theory"); or (2) the Redemption Deed creates a special lien securing the amount (\$140,999.86)

JV paid to redeem, which has priority over the Valiant Mortgages (*i.e.*, its "lien theory").

Both contentions are without any bases in fact or law and should be rejected.

# 1. The Valiant Mortgages Have Priority Because the JV Redemption Deed Did Not Convey Fee Title Ownership To The Five Parcels.

Idaho law is clear that the issuance of a redemption deed does not convey a fee title interest in the subject property. This is clear based upon the plain language of Idaho's statutes governing tax redemption as well as the case law interpreting these statutes. Moreover, this issue has already been decided by the Idaho Supreme Court in *Hardy v. McGill*, 137 Idaho 280, 286, 47 P.3d 1250, 1256 (2002), and *Trusty v. Ray*, 73 Idaho 232, 237-38, 249 P.2d 814, 818 (1952). As such, JV's "title theory" arguments are without any basis in fact or law and should be rejected.

# a. The JV Redemption Deed Could Not Convey Fee Title Ownership Pursuant to Idaho Code §§ 63-1001, et seq.

The relevant Idaho statutes governing tax delinquency and redemption are set forth at Idaho Code §§ 63-1001 through 63-1010. These statutes unambiguously establish that the JV Redemption Deed could not convey fee title ownership to JV.

A brief overview of the statutes governing tax redemption may be helpful to the Court:

Idaho Code § 63-1001 – Effect of a delinquency - Interest rate – establishes that non-payment of real property taxes constitutes a delinquency having the effect of a sale of the subject property to the tax collector who holds it in trust for the county where the property is located.

Idaho Code § 63-1002 – <u>Payment of delinquency - Order - Receipt</u> – allows the taxpayer to pay delinquent taxes on all or a portion of the subject property, provides that the amounts so paid will be applied to the oldest outstanding delinquency first, and requires the tax collector to issue a receipt for any payment so made.

Idaho Code § 63-1003 – <u>Lien and effect of delinquency</u> – provides:

(1) Any delinquency on real property taxes in accordance with the provisions of this title shall constitute a perpetual lien in favor of the county for all property taxes, late charges and interest on the property described and shall entitle the county to a tax deed for such property in the manner provided for in this title. . .

(Emphasis added.) A tax delinquency constitutes a lien against the delinquent property until such time as the county issues a tax deed to itself for the subject property.

Idaho Code § 63-1004 – <u>Payment of delinquency on segregated property</u> – states, in relevant part:

- (1) The record owner or owners or any party in interest of a segregated portion of the property *covered by a delinquency may release the lien for property taxes*, by paying to the tax collector the amount of property taxes due along with late charges, interest and costs, if any, on that particular piece of property . . .
- (2) The record owner or owners or any party in interest of a segregated portion of property *covered by a tax deed may redeem that property* at the time and in the manner provided in section 63-1007...

(Emphasis added). This statute distinguishes between the process for releasing a lien for delinquent property taxes (prior to the issuance of a tax deed) and the process for redemption from a tax deed (after the tax deed has been issued).

Idaho Code § 63-1005 – Pending issue of tax deed - General provisions - Notice – explains the process that must be followed by the county prior to the issuance of a tax deed. This includes the notice requirements and the requirement that the county must wait for three (3) years after the date of the first delinquency before the tax deed can be issued. Thus, a tax lien exists against all real property subject to a delinquency for at least three (3) years before a tax deed can be issued and recorded as a matter of record.

Idaho Code § 63-1006 – <u>Hearing and issuance of tax deed</u> – requires the opportunity for a hearing prior to the issuance of a tax deed and identifies items that must be included in the tax deed, including the names of the "former owners" of the subject property.

Idaho Code § 63-1007 – Redemption-Expiration of right – provides:

- (1) After issuance of a tax deed, real property may be redeemed only by the record owner or owners, or party in interest, up to the time the county commissioners have entered into a contract of sale or the property has been transferred by county deed. In order to redeem real property, the record owner or owners, or a party in interest shall pay any delinquency...
- (2) Should such payments be made, a redemption deed shall be issued by the county tax collector into the name of the redemptioner and *the rights, title and interest acquired by the county shall cease and terminate*; provided however, that such right of redemption shall expire fourteen (14) months from the date of the issuance of a tax deed to

the county, in the event the county commissioners have not extinguished the right of redemption by contract of sale or transfer by county during said redemption period. . .

(Emphasis added.) Thus, real property that is subject to a tax deed may be redeemed any time before the county sells the property to a third party, and the redemption terminates all right, title and interest that had been acquired by the county.

Idaho Code § 63 – 1008 – Effect of tax deed as evidence – establishes that the issuance of a tax deed will constitute *prima facie* evidence of the propriety of the process leading up to its issuance.

Idaho Code § 63-1009 – Effect of a tax deed as a conveyance – states:

The deed conveys to the grantee the absolute title to the land described therein, free of all encumbrances except mortgages of record to the holders of which notice has not been sent as provided in section 63-1005, Idaho Code, any lien for property taxes which may have attached subsequent to the assessment and any lien for special assessments.

(Emphasis added.) Accordingly, a tax deed is not a lien but a conveyance, which conveys fee title ownership of the property to the county subject only to the rights of redemption set forth in Idaho Code § 63-1004(2).

Finally, Idaho Code § 63-1010 – <u>Collection of delinquency on real, personal and operating property</u> – provides:

In all cases where real property has been or may hereafter be sold for delinquency and a deed has been issued to the county therefor, and redemption has been made in the manner provided in 63-1007, Idaho Code, the county tax collector, must issue a deed to the redemptioner; and *upon the giving of such deed, such tax deed* 

so issued to the county and the delinquency and tax sale upon which the same is based and all delinquencies and sales for prior year delinquencies shall become null and void, and all right, title, and interest acquired by the county, under and by virtue of such tax deed, or tax sales, or delinquencies, shall cease and terminate.

(Emphasis added.) A redemption deed does not convey any right, title, interest or lien to the redeemer. To the contrary, it simply renders the tax deed null and void and terminates all right, title and interest that the county acquired by virtue of the tax deed. If the Idaho Legislature had intended for a redemption deed to create a lien or convey ownership to a redeemer, it would have expressly stated that it creates a lien or conveys ownership in this statute.

Based upon the foregoing statutes, there is absolutely no bases for JV's "title theory" arguments. The JV Redemption Deed did not convey any right, title or interest to JV. It merely terminated Bonner County's ownership of said parcels and nullified the tax deed. Upon issuance of the JV Redemption Deed, the Five Parcels were returned to the *status quo* prior to the tax delinquency. As such, the JV Mortgage and the amounts JV paid to redeem remained subordinate to the Valiant Mortgages. The JV Redemption Deed did not convey ownership of the Five Parcels to JV.

b. The JV Redemption Deed Could Not Convey Fee Title Ownership of the Property Pursuant to the Case Law Interpreting Idaho Code §§ 63-1001, et seq.

JV argues that the plain language of Idaho's tax redemption statutes should be ignored in favor of its self-serving interpretation. However, JV's "title theory" arguments are not an issue of

first impression for this Court. These arguments were already considered and rejected in *Hardy v*. *McGill*, *supra*. As such, JV's "title theory" should be rejected.

The issues considered in *Hardy v. McGill* specifically included the following question: "Did the deed from the tax assessor's office convey the County's ownership interests to the Appellants and forfeit any ownership of [Respondents']?" *Id.* at 284, 47 P.3d at 1254. Moreover, the Court began the "Discussion" section of its opinion by reiterating: "The Appellants argue that *the redemption deed issued by the County conveyed title* to the Turf Club property and that [Respondents'] ownership interest was forfeited upon the conveyance." *Id.* at 285, 47 P.3d at 1255 (emphasis added). Thus, it cannot be reasonably disputed that the Idaho Supreme Court has already considered JV's argument.

After considering the "title theory" argument raised by the appellant in *Hardy v. McGill*, this Court soundly rejected the notion that a redemption deed does anything other than terminate all right, title and interest that the county acquired by virtue of its tax deed:

Idaho law makes it <u>clear</u> that the redemption deed is not a tax deed given by the county upon a sale to a purchaser; it is a deed issued to a redemptioner in consideration of the payment of delinquent taxes. *Trusty v. Ray*, 73 Idaho 232, 238 (1952). A redemption deed simply cancels and terminates all rights of the county in and to the land acquired by virtue of the treasurer's tax deed.

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